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          January 25, 2008 
 

Richard K. Weinroth, Esq. 
Sterns & Weinroth, P.C. 
50 West State Street Suite 1400 
P.O. Box 1298 
Trenton, NJ 08607-1298 
 
  Advisory Opinion No. 01-2008 

 
  Dear Mr. Weinroth: 
 

 The Commission considered your request for an advisory opinion at its meeting of January 15, 
2008, and at its meeting of January 23, 2008.  At its meeting of January 23, 2008, the Commission 
directed me to issue this response.   Your request is made on behalf of former Senator Wayne Bryant 
(5th Legislative District).  You have asked whether or not Senator Bryant may use candidate 
committee funds to pay legal fees and expenses in connection with criminal proceedings.  You 
submitted the request also with co-counsel Joseph E. Sandler, Esq., of Sandler, Reiff & Young, P.C. 
in Washington, D.C..   

 
Question Presented 

 
May an elected officeholder use campaign funds from his single candidate committee to pay for 
legal expenses incurred in defense of a criminal indictment issued by the United States Attorney’s 
office? 
 

Commission Response 
 
The Commission hereby advises you that use of Mr. Bryant’s campaign funds for legal fees and 
other expenses in connection with his defense of the criminal indictment, is not an “ordinary and 
necessary expense” of an officeholder and therefore is not a permissible use of campaign funds. 
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Submitted Facts 

 
You write that Mr. Bryant was indicted on thirteen counts on March 29, 2007, by a federal grand 
jury, see United States v. Bryant, Crim No. 07-267 (D.N.J., filed March 29, 2007).  You further 
write that Mr. Bryant has denied all of the charges, has entered a plea of not guilty to all charges, and 
intends to mount a vigorous defense.  Mr. Bryant has retained counsel in connection with the 
criminal proceeding, has incurred substantial charges for legal fees and expenses in connection with 
his defense, and anticipates incurring considerable additional fees and expenses in the future in 
connection with his representation.  He wishes to use contributions received by his candidate 
committee to do so.  
 
Senator Bryant started serving in the State Senate in 1995.  He did not run for reelection in the 2007 
primary election, and his term of office expired on January 8, 2008.  You write that he may run for 
office in the future. 

 
The indictment alleges that a co-defendant, R. Michael Gallagher, who served as Dean of University 
of Medicine and Dentistry of New Jersey’s School of Osteopathic Medicine (SOM), put Senator 
Bryant on the SOM payroll in exchange for Senator Bryant’s using his official position as a State 
Senator to advocate on behalf of SOM in the Legislature.  The indictment charges Mr. Bryant and 
his co-defendant with mail and wire fraud based on a scheme or artifice to deprive the State of New 
Jersey and its citizens of the “honest services” of the Senator, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1341, 1343 
and 2;  with solicitation and acceptance of a corrupt thing of value involving an organization 
receiving federal funds, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §661(a)[sic]; and with mail and wire fraud based 
on a scheme to obtain money or property by false pretenses in violation of 18 U.S.C.§1341. 

 
Commission records indicate that Mr. Bryant, a successful candidate in the 2003 general election for 
the office of State Senate (5th Legislative District), filed a Form D-1 (Single Candidate Committee – 
Certificate of Organization and Designation of Campaign Treasurer and Depository) on November 
24, 2003, to designate “Friends of Senator Wayne R. Bryant” as his single candidate committee for 
the 2007 primary election for the office of State Senate (5th Legislative District).   He designated a 
campaign treasurer, Allen S. Zeller, and two campaign depository accounts, account 1016658 
(savings), and account 7185243 (checking) at Equity National Bank.   Commission records indicate 
that the Friends of Wayne Bryant filed preelection quarterly reports and postelection quarterly 
reports relevant to the 2007 primary election.  Senator Bryant did not file a nominating petition for 
the 2007 primary election.  

 
Commission records as of January 23, 2008, indicate that single candidate committee’s last report 
filed was the 2007 fourth quarter report, filed timely on January 15, 2008, and indicating a closing 
balance of $640,221.18 in the campaign depositories at Equity Bank, n/k/a Susquehanna Patriot 
Bank.   
 

                               Applicable Law 
 
The Commission notes preliminarily that as a candidate having sought election to State office, Mr. 
Bryant remains subject to reporting provisions, as long as his single candidate committee continues 
to control funds and until his single candidate committee has wound up its business and filed a final 
report with a final accounting of the election fund, or transferred a balance to another election; see 
definition of candidate at N.J.S.A. 19:44A-3, and reporting provisions set forth at N.J.S.A. 19:44A-
9, N.J.S.A. 19:44A-16, and N.J.A.C. 19:25-8.3 and N.J.A.C. 19:25-8.7. 
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Statutory provisions.    N.J.S.A. 19:44A-11.2 provides that candidate committee funds shall be 
used for only six purposes.  One of these statutory purposes is the “payment of ordinary and 
necessary expenses of holding public office,” see N.J.S.A. 19:44A-11.2a (6). 
 
Section 11.2 was enacted during the 1993 Amendments to the New Jersey Campaign Contributions 
and Expenditures Reporting Act (the “Reporting Act,” N.J.S.A. 19:44A-1 et seq.);  see L. 1993, 
c.65, §27 (approved March 8, 1993).   The statute also contains a prohibition against personal use of 
candidate committee funds; it excludes from the “payment of campaign expenses” at N.J.S.A. 
19:44A-11.2a(1), expenditures for “those items or services which may reasonably be considered to 
be for the personal use of the candidate ….”   The statute also prohibits the use of candidate 
committee funds for the payment of expenses arising from the furnishing, staffing or operation of an 
office used in connection with officeholding duties. 

 
Regulatory provisions.   N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5 through 6.10 are the Commission regulations which 
concern use of candidate committee funds.  In 1994, the Commission adopted the provisions on 
permissible use of funds found at N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5 through 6.8; see 26 N.J.R. 2753 and 26 N.J.R. 
4214 (October 17, 1994).    N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5(a) 6 mirrors the statutory provisions and provides 
that campaign funds may be used for the “payment of ordinary and necessary expenses of holding 
public office, as provided in N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7.”    N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7 defines “ordinary and 
necessary expenses of holding public office”  as “any expense that reasonably promotes or carries 
out the responsibilities of a person holding elective public office” (except for expenses of furnishing, 
staffing or operation of the legislative office).    The regulations provide examples of ordinary and 
necessary officeholding expenses such as costs of communication to constituents, cost of dues for 
membership in an educational organization, and attendance at conferences, and certain costs of 
travel.   
 
N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10 (“Use of funds for legal fees”) was adopted by the Commission in 1998, see 29 
N.J.R. 5056(a) and 30 N.J.R. 862 (March 2, 1998).  This regulation contains two subsections.  
N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10(a) provides that candidate committee funds may be used for reasonable fees and 
expenses of legal representation, the “need for which arises directly from and is related to the 
campaign for public office or from the duties of holding public office.”   This subsection provides 
four specific permissible examples of such use: 1) fees for litigation directly related to a recount 
proceeding, 2) defense of a defamation action arising directly from the candidate’s campaign for 
public office, or from activities of the officeholder directly related to the existence of the duties of 
holding public office, 3) defense of an action alleging violation of the Reporting Act;  and 4) defense 
of an action before the Joint Legislative Committee on Ethical Standards “or similar public body 
having authority to hear such action or proceeding and to impose sanctions against the officeholder 
by reason of his or her status as a holder of public office.” 

 
N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10(b) provides that permissible use of funds for legal fees and expenses shall not 
include such fees and expenses incurred in connection with the candidate or officeholder’s personal 
or business affairs, or which would otherwise qualify as “personal use” under N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5(c) . 

 
N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5(c) defines as “personal use” any use of contributions to pay or fulfill a 
commitment, obligation or expense … that would arise or exist… “irrespective of the candidate’s 
campaign” or “irrespective of the candidate’s ordinary and necessary expense of holding public 
office.”   This regulation was adopted by the Commission in 1994; see 26 N.J.R. 4214 referred to 
above. 
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      Discussion 
 
The Commission has not previously considered the question presented, concerning the use of 
candidate committee funds for legal fees for criminal defense by an officeholder. In considering this 
question, the Commission must determine not only whether or not the proposed use of funds is a 
permissible use under the statutory and regulatory provisions of its jurisdiction, but also whether or 
not the proposed use falls within the prohibition on personal use also found within those provisions.  
 
In enacting the 1993 Amendments, the Legislature sought to improve public confidence in the 
political process with restrictions on personal use of campaign funds.  In proposing the rules and 
amendments on the permissible uses of candidate funds, which rules included the definition of 
“personal use” at N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5(c) and definition of “ordinary and necessary expenses of 
holding public office” at N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7, the Commission wrote in its proposal notice that the 
rules “will promote public confidence in the integrity of the electoral system and its financing.”  26 
N.J.R. 2754 (July 5, 1994).    
 
Three years later in proposing the rule on the use of funds for legal fees at N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10, the 
Commission wrote that the proposed rule would “promote public confidence that contributed 
campaign funds are being expended in accordance with campaign and officeholding purposes,” see 
29 N.J.R. 5057 (December 1, 1997).    In its adoption notice, see 30 N.J.R. 863 (March 2, 1998), the 
Commission wrote, in response to a request to include in the rule a number of additional specific 
examples of permissible uses of legal fees, that “categorically permitting payment of legal fees…” 
may “overinflate the scope of the permissible uses the Commission intends.”  The Commission 
noted its concern that an overly broad application would produce a result that would be contrary to 
the restrictions against personal use of campaign funds, see also 30 N.J.R. 863. In adopting the 
regulation regarding permissible use of campaign funds for legal fees, therefore, the Commission 
carefully chose to limit its examples of permissible use in subsection (a) and to expressly include a 
restriction on personal use in subsection (b).   
 
The Commission finds that it must be guided in this question by the overriding emphasis on the 
“ordinary and necessary” test contained in its own statute and regulations.  The Commission does 
not believe that expenditures for criminal defense of an indictment are “ordinary and necessary” 
expenses of holding public office, see N.J.S.A. 19:44A-11.2a(6), N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5(a)6,  N.J.A.C. 
19:25-6.5(c),  N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7, and  N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10.   The Commission does not find that the 
proposed expenditure falls within the meaning of an expense that “reasonably promotes” or “carries 
out the responsibilities” of a person holding elective public office, see definition of “ordinary and 
necessary” at N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7.  The Commission further does not believe that the expenses for 
defense of a criminal indictment are “ordinary” in the sense that they are normally incurred by an 
officeholder, or that such expenses are “necessary” to an officeholder’s carrying out of his or her 
duties to his or her constituents.  The Commission furthermore does not believe that a contributor 
would view a possible criminal defense scenario as an expense that “reasonably promotes” an 
officeholding purpose.    
 
 If the proposed expense does not fall within the meaning of “ordinary and necessary” for the 
purpose of N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7, the Commission believes that the proposed expense is also 
impermissible as “personal use” under the provisions of N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10(b) and N.J.A.C. 19:25-
6.5(c).  If an expenditure for criminal defense is not an ordinary and necessary expense of an 
officeholder, the Commission finds that it exists or arises irrespective of the officeholder’s ordinary 
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and necessary expenses of officeholding duties,  N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10(b) and N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5(c), 
and therefore is a prohibited personal use. 
 
The Commission further believes that a defense of a criminal indictment poses a different use than 
the specific examples set forth in N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10(a). As indicated in the adoption notice, 29 
N.J.R. 5056,  three of these examples were drawn from Advisory Opinions that the Commission had 
issued prior to proposing the regulation.  The permissible use for a recount proceeding had been 
addressed in Advisory Opinion  10-1994 and for an election contest in Advisory Opinion No. 01-
1992.  The defense of a defamation action against the candidate or officeholder had been addressed 
in Advisory Opinion No. 12-1980; and the defense of an action by the Joint Legislative Committee 
on Ethical Standards had been addressed in Advisory Opinion No. 13-1995, which was the last 
Advisory Opinion on the use of legal fees prior to adoption of the regulation.  In Advisory Opinion 
13-1995, the Commission wrote that because of his or her status as an elected officeholder, a 
member can in the ordinary course of carrying out his or her duties be required to demonstrate that 
the member has fully complied with the Rules/Code of Ethics.  Since candidate committee funds 
may be used to achieve election to office, the Commission wrote that it appears consistent that 
paragraph (6) of the statute be understood to permit use of those same funds for an officeholder to 
defend his fitness for office before the very body that has specific statutory authority to adjudicate 
that fitness.  
   
The Commission does not find that the specific examples set forth in N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10(a) compel  
the expansion of the use of legal fees to the proposed use for legal representation in connection with 
a criminal indictment.  For the reasons discussed above, the Commission finds that such use is not an 
ordinary and necessary expense of holding public office and is a personal use of campaign funds for 
legal fees, and therefore impermissible under the provisions of N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10(b). The 
Commission finds that its determination in this Advisory Opinion is consistent with its prior stated 
approach to limit and consider carefully the expansion of permissible use of campaign funds, 
including the expansion of permissible use for legal fees.  To allow the use of officeholding funds 
for a criminal defense purpose would be an expansion and distortion of the “ordinary and necessary” 
standard that is overriding in the statute and regulations, see N.J.S.A. 19:44A-11.2a(6), N.J.A.C. 
19:25-6.5(a)6,  N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5(c),  N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7, and  N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10.    
 
Discussion of Federal law. You have cited the federal jurisdiction of the Federal Election 
Commission (FEC).  The FEC has permitted the use of campaign funds by an officeholder for legal 
fees and expenses incurred in defending federal criminal charges that the officeholder received 
unlawful gifts from a defense contractor in exchange for assisting the contractor in obtaining 
contracts from the United States Department of Defense; see FEC Advisory Opinion 2005-11.   This 
Advisory Opinion, and others which you have cited in your brief,  is based upon the FEC regulation 
which is similar, but not identical,  to N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5 (c) in defining “personal use” of campaign 
funds.   Pursuant to 11 C.F.R.113.1(g), “personal use” of federal campaign funds means any use of 
funds to fulfill a commitment, obligation or expense  that would exist “irrespective of the candidate’s 
campaign or duties as a Federal officeholder.”     FEC regulation 11 C.F.R. 113.1(1)(g)(ii), further 
requires that the FEC will determine, on a case-by-case basis, whether or not other uses of funds in a 
campaign account, including legal expenses, fulfill an obligation that “would exist irrespective of the 
…duties as a Federal officeholder, and therefore are personal use.”    Under this approach, if the 
obligation would not exist irrespective of the officeholding duties, or if not for the status as an 
officeholder, it is not personal use, and therefore is a permissible use of funds.  The FEC also 
examines specific counts of an indictment to determine their relationship to an officeholder’s duties. 
The “irrespective” language has also been codified in the federal statute, see 2 USCS §439a(b)(2), 
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which provides that “personal use” occurs if funds are used to fulfill an obligation “that would exist 
irrespective of the …individual’s duties as a holder of Federal office….”   
 
The Commission notes first that the FEC opinions interpret federal statutes and are not controlling 
over New Jersey’s regulation of campaign finance activity for State elections.  Even more 
compelling however is the contrast between the FEC regulation which you cite and the 
Commission’s own regulation which it must apply to this question.  This Commission has adopted a 
regulation that provides that personal use means an expense that would exist “irrespective of the 
candidate’s ordinary and necessary expense of holding public office” [emphasis added],  N.J.A.C. 
19:25-6.5(c).  This regulation is in fact not identical to the FEC regulation cited above, 11 
C.F.R.113.1(g), because it includes the statutory language of “ordinary and necessary;”   see 
N.J.S.A. 19:44A-11.2a(6).   Therefore this regulation defining personal use is more restrictive than 
its federal counterpart.  The Commission finds as instructive and determinative that the “ordinary 
and necessary” standard was included in its own regulatory definition of “personal use,” N.J.A.C. 
19:25-6.5 (c), and was also included as a restriction in its regulation concerning legal fees, N.J.A.C. 
19:25-6.10 (b).  
 
Conclusion.  The Commission finds that it must be guided in this question by the overriding 
emphasis on the “ordinary and necessary” test of the New Jersey statutes and regulations.  The 
Commission advises you that the proposed expenditures are not “ordinary and necessary” expenses 
of holding public office, that they are not a permissible use of funds by an officeholder, and that they 
constitute personal use.  N.J.S.A. 19:44A-11.2, N.J.A.C.19:25-6.5(a)6,  N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.5(c), 
N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.7,  and N.J.A.C. 19:25-6.10.   
 
The Election Law Revision Commission, in its Interim Report to the Governor and Legislature 
(September 1, 1970), referred to the “[e]limination of public cynicism about political finance”  as its 
objective in recommending the establishment of an Election Law Enforcement Commission.   To 
permit the use of campaign funds by an officeholder to defend criminal charges would undermine 
public confidence in the Commission as well as the public policy and purpose of the Reporting Act.   

 
After consideration of the applicable statutory and regulatory provisions, the Commission believes 
that to allow the proposed expenditures as a permissible use of campaign funds would strain the 
intent and purpose of the meaning of “ordinary and necessary,” would cause a severe erosion of the 
statutory and regulatory provisions governing use of campaign funds, and would not “promote 
public confidence in the integrity of the electoral system and its financing,”  26 N.J.R. 2754 (July 5, 
1994).   
 
The Commission wishes to thank Mr. Bryant and you for your inquiry. 
 
 
                   Very truly yours, 
 
         Election Law Enforcement Commission 
 
        By:  ___________________________ 
               Carol L. Hoekje, Esq. 
 
c:  Joseph E. Sandler, Esq. 

 




























